IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 95-50101

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellant,
Cr oss- Appel | ee,

ver sus
SKI RVI N GEORGE  JOHNSQN,

Def endant - Appel | ee,
Cr oss- Appel | ant .

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas
(A-90-CR-191)

August 12, 1996
Before KING W ENER, and BENAVIDES, Ci rcuit Judges.

PER CURI AM:

The United States appeals fromthe district court’s order
granting a newtrial to Skirvin George Johnson on the basis that
the adm ssion of illegally seized evidence in Johnson’s first
trial was not harm ess error. W reverse the district court’s
order granting a new trial and, after review ng the argunents

rai sed by Johnson on his first appeal which were not addressed by

" Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the court has determ ned that
this opi nion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the Ilimted circunstances set forth in Local Rule 47.5. 4.



the earlier panel of this court, we reinstate Johnson’s

convi ctions and sentence.

| . BACKGROUND

A. PROCEDURAL HI STORY

On February 14, 1991, Skirvin CGeorge Johnson was convicted
by a jury of one count of theft froma federally funded program
inviolation of 18 U.S.C. §8 666 and two counts of noney
| aundering in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1956(a)(1)(A)(i).

A panel of this court initially vacated Johnson’s
convictions and remanded the case for a new trial based upon a
vi ol ation of Johnson’s Fourth Amendnent right to be free from

unr easonabl e searches and sei zures. United States v. Johnson, 16

F.3d 69, 72 (5th Gr. 1994). This court determ ned that |aw
enforcenment officers obtained certain itens, two of which were
admtted into evidence at trial, fromJohnson’s briefcase at the
time of his arrest in the course of a search that exceeded the
scope of a proper search incident to arrest. |d.

In response to a notion for clarification by the governnent,
this court issued a revised opinion indicating that it had not
intended to order a new trial, but rather was remandi ng the case
for the district court to determne (1) whether the adm ssion of

two illegally seized docunents at trial was harm ess error, and



(2) whether any other evidence admtted at trial was excludabl e

as the fruit of the illegal search. United States v. Johnson, 18

F.3d 293, 294 (5th Cr. 1994).

Accordingly, the district court held an evidentiary hearing,
and determ ned that (1) the governnent had not proven that the
adm ssion of the two illegally obtained docunents at trial was
harm ess error beyond a reasonabl e doubt, and (2) no other
evidence admtted at trial was excludable as the fruit of the
illegal search

On Decenber 20, 1994, the district court granted Johnson a
new trial based upon its finding that the adm ssion of tainted
evi dence was not harm ess beyond a reasonabl e doubt. The

governnent tinely filed a notice of appeal fromthis order.

B. FACTS

From Cct ober 1984 until June 1988, Johnson worked as a | oan
officer in the Comunity Devel opnent Departnent of the Cty of
Phoeni x, Arizona, which typically funded bl ock grants fromthe
Departnent of Housi ng and Urban Devel opnent (“HUD’) to mnority
busi nesses. During his tenure there, he made four suspicious
| oans, two of which are relevant to this appeal.

In March 1988, Johnson agreed to buy a park concession stand
business with outlets in three Phoenix city parks from Everett

Rand. To pay for the business, Johnson funded a $42, 000 | oan



fromthe Gty of Phoenix in the name of Rand d/b/a Cortez
Distributing. Rand had never applied for a loan with the city in
t he amount of $42,000, and testified that he knew not hi ng about

t he | oan.

At Johnson’s direction, Rand opened a series of bank
accounts at a Phoeni x bank, into which the |oan funds were
deposited. Rand presigned a series of checks fromthe bank
accounts to allow Johnson to cover his expenses in running the
concessi ons business. Johnson paid Rand $25, 000 for the
busi ness, which he subsequently renanmed Conbi ned Concessi ons, and
he spent the remnai ning $17,000 of the | oan proceeds operating the
concessi ons busi ness.

The concessi ons business’s contracts with the city parks as
well as all permits remained in Rand’s nanme. Johnson instructed
hi s enpl oyees, including Betty Hoover and Vi ctor Mntgonery, not
to reveal his ownership of the business to the Cty of Phoenix,
adnoni shing them never to nention his nane to a city enpl oyee.

In April 1988, Johnson funded a $58,000 loan fromthe Gty
of Phoenix in the nane of Wendell WIson d/b/a Anmerican Products.
Al t hough the docunentation of this loan is sketchy, the entire
| oan proceeds appeared to have been deposited into one of the
accounts that Johnson had previously instructed Rand to open in
connection with the loan for the purchase of the concessions
busi ness. O the | oan proceeds, $50,500 was then transferred into
Johnson’ s personal account at First National Bank of Austin,
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Texas, where Johnson established a $30, 000 certificate of
deposit, a $17,500 performance fund account, and a $3, 000
personal account, all in his own nane.

I n June 1988, Johnson began working for the City of Austin
as the Deputy Director of the Planning and Econom c Devel opnent
Departnent, and acted as a servicing officer in | oan prograns
primarily financed by HUD. Wile so enployed, he funded a
$250, 000 | oan on behalf of the Gty of Austin in the nane of
Hllary R chard Wight Industries, Inc. (“HRW). The purported
principals of HRWwere Wendell WIson and Eddi e Manl ey, Johnson’s
brother-in-law. Investigators determ ned that HRWwas conducting
no business, and was in essence an enpty corporate shell.

Johnson delivered a $250,000 check fromthe Cty of Austin
to Bank of the Hills, which, at Johnson’s request, had agreed to
service the HRWIloan for the city. This transaction was the
basis for Johnson’s indictnment for theft froma federally funded
programin violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 666.

Johnson al so delivered to the bank a letter containing
di sbursenent instructions, pursuant to which the bank issued two
cashier’s checks. One check, in the amount of $94, 323.16, was
made payable to J. McGee Co., and the second check, in the anount
of $86, 045. 11, was nmade payable to Dunn’s International G oup.
The remai nder of the $250, 000 was deposited in an HRWaccount at
Bank of the Hills. The disbursenents to J. McCGee Co. and Dunn’s
I nternational Goup served as the basis for Johnson’s first count
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of noney laundering in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1956(a) (1) (A (i).

The check payable to J. McGee Co. was deposited at the Petra
I nternational Bank in Washington, D.C in an account styled
Johnson McCGee Co., to which Johnson was the only signator. On
January 29, 1990, Johnson had Loui se Dagher, a longtine famly
friend, purchase a $44, 205.00 cashier’s check with noney fromthe
Johnson McCGee Co. account. Johnson delivered this check to the
City of Phoenix along with a cover letter that he signed in an
alias, Emmet Reed, indicating that the check was for paynent in
full of the loan that he had funded in the nane of Rand d/b/a
Cortez Distributing.

The cashier’s check payable to Dunn’s International G oup
was deposited in an account controlled by Wendell WIlson. Wthin
two days of the deposit, $62,000 was used for the purchase of a
cashier’s check which was sent to the Gty of Phoeni x as paynent
in full of the loan to WIlson d/b/a Anerican Products.

Finally, in February 1990, $39, 339.27 was transferred from
t he HRWaccount at Bank of the Hlls to the Johnson McCee Co.
account at Petra International Bank. Johnson had arranged for
these funds to be used by his friend, Emmanuel Reeves, to
purchase a parcel of real estate on behalf of Johnson McCGee Co.
This transfer was the basis of Johnson’s second count of noney
| aunderi ng.

On May 16, 1990, Johnson was arrested in his Austin office
by the Phoenix police. During the course of his arrest, eight
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items were seized illegally fromhis briefcase. After Johnson’s
arrest, conputer disks containing docunents connecting Johnson to
t he Phoeni x concessi ons busi ness and establishing Johnson's
connection to HRWwere di scovered in Johnson's office and
confiscated.?

Two of the itenms seized from Johnson’s briefcase were
entered into evidence: the governnment’s Exhibit 110, a subpoena
duces tecum for Gregory Rand d/b/a Cortez Distributing, and the
governnent’s Exhibit 111, a letter fromthe Arizona Departnent of
Revenue regardi ng taxes due by Rand that included a photocopy of
a check signed by Coy Curtis, an accountant for Cortez
Distributing. As stated above, we concluded on Johnson’s first
appeal that the search of Johnson’s briefcase was unlawful, and
we remanded for harmess error and fruit of the poisonous tree
analysis. On remand, the district court determ ned that
adm ssion of governnent’s Exhibits 110 and 111 was not harnl ess
error and therefore granted a newtrial. Additionally, the
district court found that no other evidence admtted at trial was

derived fromor tainted by the illegal search

1. THE GOVERNMENT' S APPEAL

Y'I'n Johnson’s first appeal, this court held that the
sei zure of the conputer disks did not violate his Fourth
Amendnent rights. United States v. Johnson, 16 F. 3d at 73.

7



The governnent appeals fromthe district court’s order
granting Johnson a new trial on the basis that the adm ssion of
the governnent’s Exhibits 110 and 111 at his trial was not
harm ess beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Johnson filed a notion to
di sm ss the governnent’s appeal for |ack of appellate
jurisdiction. W shall first address the jurisdictional

gquestion, and then the nerits of the governnent’s appeal.

A. JURI SDI CTI ON

The governnent contends that this court possesses
jurisdiction over its appeal pursuant to 18 U . S.C. § 3731.
Section 3731 provides in pertinent part:

In a crimnal case an appeal by the United States shal
lie to a court of appeals froma decision, judgnent, or
order of a district court dism ssing an indictnment or
information or granting a newtrial after verdict or
judgnent, as to any one or nore counts, except that no
appeal shall |ie where the double jeopardy clause of
the United States Constitution prohibits further
prosecuti on.

18 U.S.C. §8 3731 (enphasis added).

Johnson argues that this provision does not provide
jurisdiction over the governnent’s appeal, contending that the
district court’s new trial order was not entered “after verdict
or judgnent” because Johnson’s convictions were vacated by this
court before the new trial order was entered. Johnson, 16 F.3d
at 74. W conclude that Johnson’s argunent |acks nerit and that

we possess jurisdiction over the governnent’s appeal pursuant to



18 U.S.C. § 3731.

“[T]he legislative history [of 8§ 3731] nakes it clear that
Congress intended to renove all statutory barriers to Governnent
appeal s and to all ow appeal s whenever the Constitution would

permt.” United States v. WIlson, 420 U. S. 332, 337 (1975). The

only constitutional barrier to a potential governnent appeal is
the possibility of inplicating the Double Jeopardy O ause. See

United States v. Leal, 781 F.2d 1108, 1110 (5th Cr.),(noting

that “[t]he availability of an appeal [by the governnent] depends
not on statutory restrictions; rather only the double jeopardy
clause of the Fifth Arendnent limts the governnent’s power to do

so”), cert. denied, 479 U S. 831 (1986); United States v. Aslam

936 F.2d 751, 754 (2nd Cir. 1991)(holding that § 3731 is “a broad
aut hori zation [for the governnent] to appeal unless prohibited by
t he Doubl e Jeopardy C ause”).

A verdict was entered agai nst Johnson by the jury at trial.
The fact that his convictions were vacated on appeal does not
change the fact that a verdict was rendered. The district court
entered an order granting Johnson a newtrial after rendition of
a verdict, fromwhich the governnent appeals. Therefore, the
governnent’s appeal cones within the plain | anguage of section
3731. See 18 U.S.C. 8§ 3731 (allow ng appeal by the governnent
froman order “granting a new trial after verdict or judgnent”).

Furt hernore, no double jeopardy concerns are raised by the

governnent’s appeal because the governnent is trying to prevent
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the grant of a second trial--i.e., it seeks to have Johnson’s
convictions reinstated--which in no sense places Johnson in
jeopardy for a second tine. “[Where a Governnent appeal

presents no threat of successive prosecutions, the Double

Jeopardy C ause is not offended.” United States v. Martin Linen
Supply Co., 430 U.S. 564, 569-70 (1977); see Wlson, 420 U S. at

344. Thus, if a reversal of the district court’s order wll
sinply result in a reinstatenent of a jury verdict, then the
Doubl e Jeopardy C ause is not inplicated. Leal, 781 F.2d at
1110. A successful appeal by the governnent in this case would
merely result in reinstatenent of the jury verdict; therefore,
appel late review of the district court’s order granting a new
trial does not offend the Double Jeopardy C ause. Accordingly,
we concl ude that we possess jurisdiction over the governnent’s

appeal under 18 U S.C. § 3731.

B. HARMLESS ERROR

At trial, the governnent admtted into evidence two
docunents found during the illegal search of Johnson’'s briefcase:
the governnent’s Exhibit 110, a subpoena duces tecumfromthe
Arizona Departnent of Revenue for Rand d/b/a Cortez Distributing,
and the governnent’s Exhibit 111, a letter fromthe Arizona
Departnent of Revenue regarding taxes due by Rand that included a

phot ocopy of a check signed by Coy Curtis, an accountant for
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Cortez Distributing. On remand and after an evidentiary hearing,
the district court concluded that the adm ssion of these two

exhi bits could not be considered harnl ess error, reasoning that
the exhibits were “direct evidence taken fromthe defendant’s
possession, and no other evidence offered at trial was of |ike
character.”2? The district court stated that it could not

possi bly determ ne that Exhibits 110 and 111 did not contri bute
to the jury’s verdict because the court believed that Exhibits
110 and 111 were the only docunentary evidence found in Johnson’s
possessi on whi ch connected Johnson to Rand after Johnson had
nmoved from Austin to Phoeni x.

The governnent contends that the district court erred in

2 The district court explained why it considered these two
exhibits to be of a different character than the remai nder of the
governnent’s evi dence:

Further, the character of the evidence at issue is
different fromthe testinony and ot her docunentation
the governnent offered. Exhibits 110 and 111, although
only two of the 102 exhibits admtted at trial, were
found in the defendant’s possession and, indeed,
conprised the only evidence actually found in the

def endant’ s possession. The docunents provided a

di rect connection between Everett Rand and the

def endant after the defendant had noved to Austin from
Phoeni x. Such a connection was necessary to establish
t he noney | aundering charge, that is, that the Cortez

| oan was paid off through the Petra account with
proceeds derived fromthe HRWIoan in Austin. The
testi nony of w tnesses, although corroborating the
connection between the defendant and the Phoeni x
transactions, was subject to credibility determ nations
made by the jury. Actual docunents found in the
possessi on of a defendant reflected concrete
affirmation of the live testinony.
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concludi ng that the adm ssion of Exhibits 110 and 111 was not
harm ess beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Specifically, the governnent
chal l enges the district court’s conclusion that Exhibits 110 and
111 were the only evidence of a connection between Johnson and
Rand found in Johnson’s possession. First, the governnent clains
that the conputer disks, which were al so seized from Johnson’s
office, contain letters discussing the concessions business, thus
establishing the sane facts as Exhibits 110 and 111 were offered
to prove--i.e., that Johnson was participating in the Phoenix
concessions business while living in Austin. Additionally, the
governnment maintains that Exhibits 110 and 111 coul d not have
contributed to the verdict because they were cunul ative of other
evi dence establishing the sane facts, and fornmed a m ninal part
of the prosecution’s case agai nst Johnson. The governnent argues
that the conputer docunents and Johnson’s own adm ssions upon
questioning by Oficer Sterrett, as testified to by Sterrett,
establ i shed that Johnson continued to participate in the Phoenix
concessions business while in Austin. Finally, the governnent
argues that the testinony of wtnesses Rand, Betty Hoover, and
Vi ctor Montgonery al so established the sane facts which Exhibits
110 and 111 were offered to prove.

We review the grant or denial of a notion for a new trial

under an abuse of discretion standard. United States v. Cooks,

52 F.3d 101, 103 (5th Cr. 1995). However, we conduct a de novo
review of the record to determ ne whether constitutional trial
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error is harnl ess beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Arizona v.

Ful m nante, 499 U S. 279, 295-96 (1991); Lowery v. Collins, 988

F.2d 1364, 1372 (5th Cr. 1993). “An order granting a new trial

will . . . be reversed when it is not supported by the reasons

gi ven . Fontenot v. Cormer, 56 F.3d 669, 676 (5th Gr

1995). Therefore, if we find that the district court incorrectly
concl uded that the adm ssion of Exhibits 110 and 111 was not

harm ess error, we shall also find that it abused its discretion
in granting a newtrial, as the reason for the newtrial was the
finding that the adm ssion of the tainted evidence was harnful.

“A constitutional error may be found harmless if the

beneficiary of a constitutional error proves beyond a reasonabl e
doubt that the error conplained of did not contribute to the

verdict obtained.” United States v. Dotson, 817 F.2d 1127, 1135

(5th Gr. 1987) (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U S. 18, 24

(1967)) (internal quotations and alterations omtted). “The
gquestion is not whether there was sufficient evidence on which
the petitioner could have been convicted w thout the evidence
conpl ai ned of; rather, the question is whether there is a
reasonabl e possibility that the evidence conplai ned of m ght have

contributed to the conviction.” 1d. (citing Fahy v. Connecticut,

375 U.S. 85, 86-87 (1963)) (internal quotations and alterations

omtted); see Satterwhite v. Texas, 486 U.S. 249, 258 (1988).

In analyzing the record to determ ne whether the erroneous
adm ssion of Exhibits 110 and 111 was harm ess, we nust first
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determ ne the purpose for which the tainted evidence was

introduced. See United States v. Scarfo, 685 F.2d 842, 846 (3rd

Cr.), cert. denied, 459 U S. 1170. Both parties agree that

Exhi bits 110 and 111--both itens of correspondence fromthe
Arizona Departnent of Revenue to Rand dated 1990 and found in
Johnson’ s possession--were offered by the governnent to
denonstrate that Johnson was involved with Rand in the operation
of the concessions business after he had noved from Phoenix to
Austin. The governnent needed this connection to prove an

el emrent of the noney |aundering counts--i.e., that Johnson acted
wth the intent to pronote the carrying on of specified unlawf ul
activity. The governnent’s theory was that Johnson used the
$250, 000 Austin | oan proceeds to pay off his two fraudul ent
Phoeni x | oans--the $58, 000 | oan to American Products and the
$42,000 loan to Rand d/b/a Cortez Distributing, which |ater
becane Conbi ned Concessions. Thus, the governnent had to prove
t he exi stence of the two Phoeni x | oans and the connection between
Johnson and the busi nesses to whom those | oans were nade.

In addition to Exhibits 110 and 111, the governnent offered
ot her evi dence establishing a connection between Johnson and Rand
and the Phoeni x concessi ons busi ness. However, the district
court concluded that the adm ssion of Exhibits 110 and 111 was
har nf ul because these exhibits were different in character from
the ot her evidence presented on this issue. After reviewng the
remai nder of the evidence offered to prove the connection between
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Johnson and the Phoeni x concessi ons busi ness, we concl ude that
there is no reasonable possibility that Exhibits 110 and 111
contributed to the jury s verdict; thus, the adm ssion of the
tainted exhibits is harnl ess beyond a reasonabl e doubt.

First, the district court incorrectly concl uded that
Exhibits 110 and 111 were different in character fromthe other
evi dence offered to show Johnson’s continuing invol venent with
the Phoenix activities. The district court distinguished
Exhibits 110 and 111 because (1) they were discovered in
Johnson’ s possession--in his briefcase in his office, and (2)
they were tangi bl e docunents not subject to credibility
determ nations. However, the governnent also admtted into
evi dence conputer discs found in Johnson’s office and a print-out
of the docunents found on these discs. The discs contained a
1989 letter fromRand to the Gty of Phoenix concerning the
concessi ons business. The untainted conputer discs and the
docunents contai ned thereon share the “uni que” characteristics of
Exhibits 110 and 111: (1) the discs were discovered in Johnson’s
possession--on his desk in his office; and (2) the discs and the
print-outs were also tangi bl e evidence not subject to credibility
determ nations. Therefore the conputer discs and docunents
constitute evidence of the same character as Exhibits 110 and 111
establishing the sane facts--that Johnson was involved with Rand
in the operation of the concessions business after he noved from
Phoeni x to Austin.
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Second, Johnson’s own adm ssions to Oficer Sterrett, as
testified to by Sterrett, established the necessary connection
bet ween Johnson and the operation of the concessions busi ness.
Sterrett testified that Johnson admtted that he had forged
Rand’ s signature on the docunents necessary to obtain the |oan
fromthe Gty of Phoenix in the nanme of Rand d/b/a Cortez
Distributing. He also admtted that he purchased and took
control of the concessions business and renaned it Conbi ned
Concessions. He admtted that although he ran and owned the
concessions business, it was still held in Rand’s nanme. Johnson
admtted that he used noney fromthe Petra bank account to pay
off the loan fromthe Cty of Phoenix to Conbi ned Concessi ons.
The significance of Exhibits 110 and 111 pales in conparison to
Johnson’s adm ssions that he forged Rand’s signature to obtain
t he concessions | oan and that he owned and operated the Phoeni x

concessi ons business. See Fulm nante, 499 U . S. at 296 (stating

that “[a] confession is |like no other evidence. |ndeed, the
def endant’s own confession is probably the nost probative and
damagi ng evi dence that can be admtted against him. . . ).
Third, the testinony of three wi tnesses al so established
t hat Johnson procured the fraudul ent Phoeni x | oans and oper at ed
t he Phoeni x concessions business. Rand testified that Johnson
agreed to purchase the concessions business fromhim and that
Johnson paid for the business with a check fromthe Gty of
Phoeni x. Rand stated that he knew nothi ng about the | oan and
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t hat he never gave Johnson perm ssion to sign his nane on the

| oan docunents. Betty Hoover, an enpl oyee of the concessions
busi ness, also testified that Johnson was the owner of the

busi ness, although she testified that Johnson instructed his

enpl oyees not to reveal his ownership to the Gty of Phoeni x.
Hoover testified that Johnson nanaged the daily affairs of the
concessions business. She testified that while Johnson was
living in Austin, he called her three tines a week to discuss the
busi ness operations of the concession stands and that he would
travel to Phoeni x about once a nonth to check on the concession
stands. Victor Montgonery, another enpl oyee of the concessions
busi ness, testified that Rand sold the concessions business to
Johnson in 1988. Montgonery also testified that Johnson operated
t he concessi ons busi ness and communi cated with the enpl oyees at

| east a couple of tinmes a week while he was in Austin and Johnson
woul d travel to Phoenix a couple of times a nonth. This
testinony clearly establishes the same facts for which Exhibits
110 and 111 were offered.

Finally, we note that Exhibits 110 and 111 were identified
by Oficer Sterrett during his testinony, but were not discussed
or explained at that tine. The tainted exhibits were nentioned
on only two pages of the over 1000-page trial transcript and they
were not nentioned by the governnent during closing argunent.

Exhi bits 110 and 111 clearly did not constitute evidence relied

on heavily by the prosecution. . Fleming v. Collins, 917 F. 2d
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850 (5th G r. 1990) (hol ding the adm ssion of defendant’s
statenent w thout M randa warni ngs not harmnl ess because the
statenents were “the core of the governnent’s case against” the
def endant, were relied on heavily by the prosecution during
cl osing argunent, and were obviously central to his conviction).
Consi dering the other evidence offered by the prosecution
for the sanme purpose as Exhibits 110 and 111, and the fact that
these exhibits were of mniml significance to the governnent’s
case agai nst Johnson, we conclude that the adm ssion of Exhibits
110 and 111 was harm ess beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Accordingly,
the district court abused its discretion in granting Johnson a

new trial.

I11. JOHANSON S ARGUVENTS ON APPEAL

Havi ng concluded that the district court abused its
di scretion in granting Johnson a new trial, our next step would
ordinarily be to reinstate Johnson’s convictions. However, on
his original appeal, Johnson raised several argunents which the
earlier panel did not address. Johnson, 16 F. 3d at 74.
Additionally, as a result of this court’s order directing the
district court to conduct a “fruit of the poisonous tree
anal ysi s” on remand, Johnson rai ses an additional argunent that
the district court erred in conducting this analysis.

Accordi ngly, we shall address Johnson’ s outstandi ng appell ate
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i ssues before deciding whether to reinstate his convictions.

A. FRU T OF THE PO SONOUS TREE

Johnson contends that the district court erred in
determ ning on remand that no other evidence admtted agai nst him
at trial should have been excluded as the fruit of the ill egal
search of his briefcase. Specifically, Johnson clains that the
testi nony of Louise Dagher and all evidence pertaining to Petra
I nt ernational Bank, Johnson McGee Co., Coy Curtis and First City
Visa was derived fromand tainted by the illegal search of
Johnson’ s bri ef case.

At the evidentiary hearing, the governnment presented
testinony of its investigating officers to denonstrate that each
item of evidence introduced at trial other than Exhibits 110 and
111 was derived fromsone source other than the illegal search of
Johnson’s briefcase. Based on this testinony and the notes of
the investigating officers, the district court ruled that no
evi dence other than Exhibits 110 and 111 was tainted by the
illegal search

We review a district court’s conclusions of lawrelating to

a notion to suppress de novo. United States v. Seals, 987 F. 2d

1102, 1106 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 114 S. C. 155 (1993). W

W Il accept the district court’s findings of fact unless they are

clearly erroneous. 1d. In this case, the district court’s
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conclusion that no evidence admtted at trial should have been
excluded as fruit of the illegal search is functionally
equi valent to a denial of a notion to suppress; therefore, we
shall review it as such

“The derivative evidence rule, also known as the ‘fruit of
t he poi sonous tree doctrine,’ requires exclusion of evidence that
is the indirect product or ‘fruit’ of unlawful police conduct.”

United States v. Tedford, 875 F.2d 446, 450 (5th Gr. 1989). The

pur pose of the exclusionary rule is “to deter future unlaw ul
police conduct and thereby effectuate the guarantee of the Fourth
Amendnent agai nst unreasonabl e searches and seizures.” United

States v. Houltin, 566 F.2d 1027, 1030 (5th Cr.), cert. denied,

439 U. S. 826 (1978). The question asked in determ ni ng whet her
evidence is the fruit of an illegal search is “whether, granting
establishnment of the primary illegality, the evidence to which

i nstant objection is nmade has been cone at by exploitation of
that illegality or instead by neans sufficiently distinguished to

be purged of the primary taint.” Wng Sun v. United States, 371

U S 471, 488 (1963); United States v. Caldwell, 750 F.2d 341,

343 (5th Gir. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1007 (1985).

There are three situations in which evidence which is
derived fromillegal police conduct is “purged of its taint” and

t heref ore adm ssi bl e. United States v. Parker, 722 F.2d 179, 184

(5th Gr. 1983). First, derivative evidence should not be

suppressed when “the connection between the illegal police

20



conduct and the discovery and seizure of the evidence is ‘so

attenuated as to dissipate the taint.”” Segura v. United States,

468 U. S. 796, 805 (1984)(citations omtted); see United States v.

Brookins, 614 F.2d 1037, 1041 (5th G r. 1980). Second, under the
i ndependent source exception to the fruit of the poisonous tree
doctrine, evidence is admssible if it was discovered by neans
whol |y i ndependent of the constitutional violation, even if the
sane evidence was al so discovered during or as a consequence of

illegal police conduct. Mirray v. United States, 487 U. S. 533,

537 (1988); Nix v. Wllianms, 467 U.S. 431, 443 (1984). Finally,

if the prosecution denonstrates by a preponderance of the
evidence that tainted derivative evidence ultimately or

i nevi tably woul d have been di scovered by | awful neans, the
evidence is adm ssible. Mirray, 487 U. S. at 539; N x, 467 U S
at 444.

After reviewing the record of the evidentiary hearing, we
are persuaded that all evidence related to Petra Internati onal
Bank, the Johnson McCGee Co., the First Cty Visa account, Coy
Curtis, and the testinony of Louise Dagher was derived froma
source i ndependent of the illegal search of Johnson’s briefcase

or inevitably would have been di scovered.?

3 Johnson argues that the government has waived its
i ndependent source and inevitable discovery argunents because
they were not raised before trial inrelation to the notion to
suppress. However, this argunent |acks nerit because the
governnent did not have a neani ngful opportunity to present these
argunents prior to the evidentiary hearing on remand. See United
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Wth regard to Johnson McCGee Co. and the Johnson MGee
account at Petra International Bank, Johnson contends that the
governnent | earned of Johnson McGee Co. and was directed to the
Petra account by three bl ank checks off of that account that were
di scovered in his briefcase during the illegal search. However,
Oficer Sterrett testified that he knew of the Johnson McCGee Co.
on March 14, 1990--two nonths before the May 16, 1990 il l egal
search--when Rand faxed to himthe purchase agreenent covering
the sale of the concessions business by Rand to Johnson McCGee Co.
Sterrett also testified that he had acquired a signature card on
the Petra account, a corporate resolution statenent from Petra
I nternational Bank, and an account agreenent from Petra through a
subpoena i ssued nearly a nonth before the search. Additionally,
O ficer Pardi nek, who investigated the HRWIloan in Austin, based
hi s subpoena of records of the Petra account on references
obt ai ned t hrough Bank of the Hills, which had issued a check to
Johnson McCGee Co. Pardinek testified that he did not review
Oficer Sterrett’s list of itenms seized fromJohnson's briefcase

until May 31, 1990, after Pardi nek had subpoenaed the Johnson

States v. Martinez, 974 F.2d 589, 591-92 (5th Cr. 1992) (the
failure to advance a | egal argunent constitutes waiver only if
the party has a neani ngful opportunity to devel op the theory and
fails to do so). The governnent had no reason to argue that the
evidence admtted at trial was not tainted by the illegal search
before the evidentiary hearing on remand because Johnson’s notion
to suppress did not seek to exclude any derivative evidence but
only the itens seized fromhis briefcase and the conputer discs
subsequently seized from his desk
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McCGee Co. account records from Petra.

Johnson al so contends that the governnent derived evidence
of his First Cty Visa account froma statenent seized during the
illegal search of his briefcase. Although Oficer Sterrett
testified that he did not know of Johnson’s First City Visa
account prior to the illegal search of Johnson’s briefcase, the
Vi sa account was di scovered from an i ndependent source by Oficer
Pardinek. Alternatively, the First Cty Visa account inevitably
woul d have been di scovered from an i ndependent source through
Pardi nek’s investigative efforts. Pardinek testified that he
di scovered a check payable to First Gty Visa for Johnson’s
account in the HRWbank records that he subpoenaed from Bank of
the Hlls before the illegal search. Also, Pardinek testified
that during a | awful search of Johnson’s residence after the
illegal search, he discovered a receipt froma purchase nmade on
the Visa account in Johnson’s trash can. Pardinek then phoned
the credit card conpany and determ ned whi ch bank issued the card
and t hen subpoenaed the First Gty Visa records.

As to the testinony of Louise Dagher, Johnson contends that
t he governnent becane aware of her existence during the search of
his safety deposit box, and that the affidavit supporting the
warrant for the safety deposit box referred to itens illegally
sei zed from Johnson's briefcase. However, Oficer Pardinek
testified that he | earned of Loui se Dagher through sone cancel ed
checks payable to her which were included in the records that he
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obtained from Petra International Bank. Pardinek also testified
that he | earned of Loui se Dagher fromthe cancel ed checks before
he reviewed Sterrett’s inventory of the briefcase on May 31,
1990. Pardinek’s daily notes corroborate this testinony.
Therefore, we conclude that the testinony of Louise Dagher was
obt ai ned i ndependently of the illegal search.
Finally, Johnson contends that the governnent discovered
the existence of Coy Curtis and his address and tel ephone nunber
froma check and tel ephone records seized fromhis briefcase.
However, Sterrett testified that he | earned Coy Curtis’s identity
and whereabouts frominterviews with Betty Hoover and Victor
Mont gonery. Sterrett also testified that he obtained Curtis’s
street address through a driver’'s |icense check. Additionally,
Curtis did not testify at trial and Sterrett testified that no
evi dence was obtained from Curtis. Any evidence obtained from
Coy Curtis was discovered i ndependently of the illegal search.
Accordingly, we affirmthe district court’s holding that no
ot her evidence admtted at trial should have been excluded as the

fruit of the illegal search

B. SUFFI Cl ENCY OF THE EVI DENCE
Johnson argues that the evidence was insufficient to support
his convictions for one count of theft froma federally funded

programin violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 666 and two counts of nobney
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| aundering in violation of 18 U. S.C. 8 1956(a)(1)(A)(i). The
gover nnment responds that sufficient evidence supports Johnson’s
theft and noney | aundering convictions.

1. Standard of Revi ew

The scope of our review of the sufficiency of the evidence

after conviction by a jury is narrow. United States v. Sal azar,
66 F.3d 723, 728 (5th Cr. 1995). W nust affirmif a reasonable
trier of fact could have found that the evidence established

guilt beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S

307, 319 (1979); United States v. Harris, 25 F.3d 1275, 1279 (5th

Cr.), cert. denied, 115 S. C. 458 (1994). W nust consi der al

t he evidence, all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom and al
credibility determnations, in the light nost favorable to the

verdict. United States v. Resio-Trejo, 45 F.3d 907, 911 (5th

Gir. 1995).

2. Theft froma Federally Funded Program

Johnson was convicted of one count of theft froma federally

funded programin violation of 18 U. S.C. 8§ 666 (count one).* For

4Section 666 provides in relevant part:

(a) Woever, if the circunstance described in
subsection (b) of this section exists--
(A) enbezzles, steals, obtains by fraud, or
ot herwi se without authority know ngly converts to
the use of any person other than the rightful
owner or intentionally m sapplies property that--
(i) is valued at $5,000 or nore, and
(ii) is owned by, or is under the care,
custody or control of such organizati on,
governnent, or agency; or

25



the jury to find Johnson guilty on this count, the governnent had
to prove that: (1) the Cty of Austin is a local governnent; (2)
on or about Cctober 12, 1989, Johnson was an agent of the City of
Austin; (3) fromJanuary 1, 1989 to January 1, 1990, the City of
Austin received nore than $10,000 in federal assistance; and (4)
on or about Cctober 12, 1989, Johnson enbezzl ed, stole, obtained
by fraud or otherwi se without authority converted to the use of
any other person than the rightful owner, or intentionally

m sapplied property worth greater than $5,000 owned by the City
of Austin. Johnson argues that the governnent failed to prove
the fourth elenent of count one.® He argues that the evidence
did not establish a connection between Johnson and HRWor the HRW
account at Bank of the Hlls.

After review ng the record, we conclude that sufficient

shall be fined under this title, inprisoned not nore

than 10 years, or both

(b) The circunstance referred to in subsection (a) of
this section is that the organi zati on, governnent, or
agency receives, in any one year period, benefits in

excess of $10,000 under a Federal programinvolving a
grant, contract, subsidy, |oan, guarantee, insurance,
or other form of Federal assistance.

18 U.S.C. § 666 (Supp. 1996).

5 Al t hough Johnson does not argue ot herw se, we note that
t he governnent produced sufficient evidence supporting the first
three el enents: that Johnson was an agent of the Gty of Austin,
whi ch was a | ocal governnent receiving over $10,000 in federal
funds in the year 1989.
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evi dence exi sts upon which the jury could find that Johnson
enbezzl ed, stole or obtained by fraud $250, 000 owned by the City
of Austin. Johnson prepared a |oan application to the Cty of
Austin in the nanme of Hilary R chard Wight Industries, Inc.
(HRW, a conpany purportedly owned by Eddie Manly and Wendel |

W1 son. However, several of the | oan docunents, such as HRWs
busi ness plan, were discovered on a conputer disc in Johnson’s
of fice which al so contai ned personal papers of Johnson's rel ated
t o Conbi ned Concessions--the Phoenix busi ness which Johnson
purchased from Rand with the proceeds of a |loan the City of
Phoeni x had extended to Rand’s business, Cortez Distribution.
Additionally, the address listed on HRWs | oan application was
the address of Arthur Mosel ey’ s woodwor ki ng busi ness. Mosel ey
testified that no conpany naned HRWexi sted at that address. In
addition, the inventory list contained in HRWs loan file is
absolutely identical to a list of the inventory of Mseley’s
woodwor ki ng busi ness. Moseley testified that Johnson had

previ ously handl ed Mosel ey’ s application for a mnority business
loan fromthe Gty of Austin, and that Mosel ey had gi ven Johnson
a detailed list of his inventory to support his |oan application.
I nvestigation by the Cty of Austin internal auditors, Austin
Police Oficer Pardinek, and I RS Agent Trevino could not |ocate
an existing, operating business called HRWand could not |ocate
either Manly or Wlson. There was anpl e evidence that HRW was
not an existing business, and that Johnson created the
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information on the HRWloan file to nake it ook |legitinmate.
Davi d Kreider, Johnson’s supervisor at the Cty of Austin,
testified that he signed the HRWcheck request and approved the
| oan without reviewing the loan file because he trusted Johnson
conpletely in the handling of mnority business | oans.

Addi tionally, the evidence indicated that Wendell W] son,
the purported principal of HRW was previously involved with a
| oan handl ed by Johnson on behalf of the Gty of Phoenix to a
conpany called Anmerican Products. Tracing of the funds of the
American Products | oan reveal ed that Johnson received these
funds. Investigation by the City of Phoenix into the Anmerican
Products | oan al so suggested that American Products was a
fictitious business. Fromthe evidence of Wendell WIlson's
connection with both American Products and HRW the jury could
have reasonably inferred that Johnson intended to obtain and/ or
retain the $250, 000 proceeds of the HRWI oan.

The fact that the proceeds of the HRWI| oan were eventually
deposited into an account on which Johnson was the sol e signator
al so indicate that Johnson enbezzl ed, stole or obtained by fraud
t he $250, 000 belonging to the City of Austin. When the Cty of
Austin prepared the check for the HRWI oan, Johnson brought the
check to Bank of the Hlls and deposited it with the assistance
of Powel| Thonpson, a vice-president of the bank. Thonpson
testified that Johnson handed himwitten instructions to use the
$250, 000 to obtain two cashier’s checks and to open a checking
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account at Bank of the Hills in the nane of HRW After doing so,
Thonpson testified that he gave Johnson possession of the two
cashier’s checks.

Bank records indicate that one of the cashier’s checks, nade
out to J. McCee Co., was eventually deposited into an account
under the name of Johnson McGee Co. at Petra |nternational Bank
i n Washi ngton, D.C., on which Johnson was the sole signator.
Several w tnesses testified either that Johnson McCGee Co. was a
name under which Johnson did business, or that Johnson was the
sol e owner of that conpany. The fact that Johnson had Thonpson
prepare the cashier’s check to J. McGee Co., rather than Johnson
McCGee Co., suggests that Johnson was trying to conceal from Bank
of the HIlls that a conpany bearing his name woul d receive the
proceeds of the HRWIloan. This suggestion is further evidence of
Johnson’s intent to steal, enbezzle or obtain by fraud the
$250,000. Additionally, a few nonths |ater, an approxi mately
$39, 000 check witten on the HRWaccount at Bank of the Hills was
deposited into the Johnson McGee account at Petra |International
Bank. Because the evidence denonstrates that Johnson prepared
the HRWI| oan application with false information in the nane of a
nonexi stent conpany, and because Johnson ultimately received the
proceeds of the HRWIloan, the jury could have reasonably
concl uded that Johnson stole, enbezzled or obtained by fraud the
$250, 000 which the City of Austin |oaned to HRW Therefore,
sufficient evidence exists to support the jury’s verdict as to
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count one.

3. Mbney Launderi ng

Johnson was convicted of two counts of noney |aundering in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(a)(1)(A) (i)(counts two and three).?®
To convict Johnson of noney | aundering, the governnent nust prove
t hat Johnson: “(1) knew that the property involved in a financial
transaction represented the proceeds of unlawful activity; (2)
conducted or attenpted to conduct a financial transaction which
in fact involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity; and
(3) did so with the intent to pronote the carrying on of the

unlawful activity.” United States v. Restive, 8 F.3d 274, 280

(5th Gr. 1993), cert. denied, 115 S. . 54 (1994).

Johnson argues that the governnent failed to prove each
el enrent of count two-- that Johnson had comm tted noney
| aundering in obtaining two cashier’s checks from Bank of the

Hills with the proceeds of the HRWI oan on Cctober 12, 1989.

6Section 1956 provides in relevant part:

(a) (1) Woever, knowing that the property involved in a
financial transaction represents the proceeds of sone
formof unlawful activity, conducts or attenpts to
conduct such a financial transaction which in fact
i nvol ves the proceeds of specified unlawful activity--
(A (i) with the intent to pronote the carrying on
of specified unlawful activity;
shall be sentenced to a fine of not nore than
$500, 000 or twice the value of the property involved in
the transaction, whichever is greater, or inprisonnent
for not nore than twenty years, or both.

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1) (A (i) (Supp. 1996).
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Johnson argues that the evidence shows that HRW purchased the
cashier’s checks through Manly and Wl son and that the Cty of
Austin authorized the transfer of funds to the HRWaccount at
Bank of the Hills.

After reviewing the record, we conclude that the evidence
supports Johnson’s conviction on count two. First, the evidence
denonstrates that Johnson conducted a financial transaction on
Cctober 12, 1989, nanely, that he caused Wl son to purchase two
cashier’s checks fromBank of the Hlls on behalf of HRWin the
anount s of approxi mately $94, 000 and $86, 000. Thonpson testified
that he issued these two checks per witten instructions handed
to himby Johnson, and that he delivered the cashier’s checks to
Johnson’ s possession. Second, the evidence indicates that the
financial transaction involved the proceeds of unlawful activity
and that Johnson knew that the property involved was the proceeds
of unlawful activity. [In response to Johnson’s argunent that the
City of Austin authorized the issuance of the $250,000 check to
Bank of the Hlls, we note that the City of Austin’s
aut hori zation of the $250,000 | oan was based entirely on
Johnson’s representations to Kreider concerning HRWand its | oan
application. The evidence supporting count one al so denonstrates
that the noney used to purchase the cashier’s checks was the
proceeds of unlawful activity--nanely, Johnson’s theft of
$250,000 fromthe City of Austin in violation of 18 U. S.C. § 666.
The jury could reasonably have inferred that Johnson knew t hat
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t he $250, 000 was the proceeds of unlawful activity fromthe
evi dence establishing that Johnson stol e, enbezzled or obtained
by fraud the $250, 000.

Finally, the evidence denonstrates that Johnson purchased
the cashier’s checks with the specific intent to pronote or carry
on the unlawful activity of theft froma federally funded
program The tracing of the funds fromthe cashier’s checks
i ndi cates that Johnson purchased the cashier’s checks in an
attenpt to conceal the |oan proceeds fromthe Cty of Austin, and
al so indicates that Johnson wanted to use the funds to pay off
two of the Phoenix | oans which were being questioned by his
successor at the Cty of Phoeni x econom ¢ devel opnent departnent.

The first cashier’s check was in the anount of approxi mately
$94, 000 and was nmade out to J. McCGee Co. This check was
deposited into the Johnson McGee Co. account at Petra
I nternational Bank in D.C, an account on which Johnson was the
sole signator. Fromthe Johnson McGee Co. account, a $44, 205
cashier’s check nmade out to the Cty of Phoeni x was obtai ned.
This cashier’s check was received by the City of Phoenix with a
letter signed by Emmet Reed indicating that it was to be used to
pay off the $42,000 loan to Cortez Distributing. The evidence
establ i shed that Johnson had been the |oan officer for the Cty
of Phoenix on the Cortez Distributing |oan, that he personally
had recei ved the proceeds of the Cortez Distributing |oan, and
t hat Johnson had used these funds to purchase the concessions
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busi ness from Rand. Johnson previously had told Victor
Mont gonery that he sonetinmes used the nanme Emmet Reed. Johnson
also admtted to Oficer Sterrett that he had sent this check to
Phoeni x to pay off the Cortez Distributing Loan.

The second cashier’s check was in the anmount of
approxi mately $86, 000 and was nmade out to Dunn | nternational
G oup. The evidence showed that Wendell WI son deposited this
amount in a bank account in the nane of Dunn International in
California. The evidence al so suggested that Dunn I nternational
was a fictitious business, as neither it nor Wlson could be
found by investigators at the |listed address of the business nor
anywhere el se. No deposits of nore than one or two hundred
dollars were ever made into the Dunn International account other
t han the $86, 000 cashier’s check. Soon after the cashier’s check
fromthe HRWI oan was deposited into the Dunn | nternational
account, a cashier’s check for $62,000 nmade out to the City of
Phoeni x was purchased with funds fromthe Dunn | nternational
account. This $62,000 check was sent to the City of Phoenix with
a letter purportedly signed by WIlson stating that the check was
to be used to pay off the $58, 000 American Products |oan. The
evi dence indicated that American Products was a fictitious
conpany, that Johnson had received at |east sone of the proceeds
of this loan, and that the Gty of Phoenix was inquiring into the
busi ness operations of American Products and the status of the
| oan three days before the two cashier’s checks fromthe HRW
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account at Bank of the Hills were purchased. The evidence
regardi ng Johnson’s invol venent with the Phoeni x | oan
transactions as well as the bank records tracing the two
cashier’s checks denonstrates that Johnson obtained the cashier’s
checks with the proceeds of unlawful activity and with the intent
to pronote or carry on the unlawful activity by concealing the
proceeds of the HRWI oan and by paying off the Phoenix |oans to
foreclose the City of Phoenix’s investigation into those | oans.
Therefore, we conclude that sufficient evidence exists to support
the jury’s verdict as to count two.

As to count three, Johnson argues that the governnent failed
to prove that Johnson transferred funds fromthe HRWaccount at
Bank of the Hlls to the Johnson McGee Co. and then to the City
of Phoeni x, that the funds were proceeds of theft, that Johnson
knew t he funds were proceeds of theft, and that Johnson had the
specific intent to pronote or carry on a specified unlawf ul
activity. Johnson maintains that there is no evidence that he
si gned any HRW checks or caused themto be issued.

We concl ude that the evidence is sufficient to support
Johnson’ s conviction on count three. First, the evidence
denonstrates that Johnson caused a $39, 000 check to be issued
fromthe HRWaccount at Bank of the HIls to Johnson McCee Co.
The jury could reasonably infer that Johnson caused the $39, 000
check to be issued, although Johnson did not sign the check, from
fact that Johnson obtained the proceeds of the check. Second,
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Bank of the Hills’ records indicate that the $39, 000 canme from

t he proceeds of the $250,000 loan to HRWfromthe City of Austin.
The evi dence supporting count one al so denonstrates that Johnson
knew this noney was the proceeds of unlawful activity and that it
in fact was the proceeds of unlawful activity. Finally, the

evi dence that Johnson intended to use this $39,000 to purchase a
parcel of real estate in the D.C. area denonstrates that Johnson
participated in this financial transaction with the specific
intent to pronote or carry on unlawful activity. Bank records
and the testinony of Enmmanuel Reeves and Kashaka Kieta indicate

t hat Johnson used these funds to pay a retainer to Kieta, a real
estate broker, for his assistance in finding a parcel of real
estate to be purchased by Johnson McCGee Co. The purchase of real
estate woul d have conceal ed the unlawfully obtai ned proceeds of
the City of Austin $250,000 loan to HRW Therefore, we concl ude
that there is sufficient evidence to support Johnson’s conviction

under count three.

C. EVI DENTI ARY RULI NGS

Johnson argues that the district court erred in admtting
evi dence of the Phoeni x | oans because these were extraneous
of fenses for which Johnson was not charged. Johnson al so argues
that the probative value of this evidence is outweighed by its

prejudicial effect. The governnent maintains that the district
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court correctly admtted evidence relating to the Phoeni x | oans
under Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b) because the Phoeni x | oans
were relevant to proving Johnson’s intent to keep the proceeds of
the HRWI| oan, as well as, on the noney | aundering charges,
Johnson’s specific intent to pronote or carry on the specified
unl awful activity of theft froma federally funded program
Addi tionally, the governnent argues that the evidence of the
Phoeni x | oans was inextricably intertwined with the evidence of
the charged offenses, thus, it is adm ssible and not subject to
rule 404(b) anal ysis.

We review the district court’s rulings on the admssibility

of evidence for abuse of discretion. United States v. MAfee, 8

F.3d 1010, 1017 (5th Cr. 1993); United States v. Jardina, 747

F.2d 945, 950 (5th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U S. 1058

(1985). Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b) provides:

Q her crinmes, wongs, or acts. Evidence of other
crimes, wongs, or acts is not admssible to prove the
character of a person in order to show action in
conformty therewwth. It may, however, be adm ssible
for other purposes, such as proof of notive,
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, know edge,
identity, or absence of m stake or accident, provided
t hat upon request by the accused, the prosecution in a
crimnal case shall provide reasonable notice in
advance of trial . . . of the general nature of any
such evidence it intends to introduce at trial.

Fed. R Evid. 404(b) (1996). W review alleged violations of

Rul e 404(b) under the two-pronged test of United States v.

Beechum 582 F. 2d 898, 911 (5th Cr. 1978) (en banc), cert.
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deni ed, 440 U.S. 920 (1979). That test requires us to verify (1)
that the evidence of extraneous conduct is relevant to an issue
ot her than a defendant’s character, and (2) that the evidence
possesses probative value that is not substantially outweighed by
its undue prejudice and is otherw se adm ssi bl e under Rul e 403.
Id.

After reviewi ng the record, we conclude that the district
court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that evidence of
Johnson’s participation in the Phoeni x | oans was adm ssi bl e as
rel evant evidence of his intent on the charged crines, as well as
his notive, particularly in light of the fact that the proceeds
of the HRWI| oan were used by Johnson to pay off two of the
Phoeni x | oans. Additionally, we conclude that the probative
val ue of this evidence was not substantially outwei ghed by any

unfair prejudice to Johnson.’

D. MOTI ON FOR CONTI NUANCE

Johnson next argues that the district court’s denial of his
nmotion for a continuance deprived Johnson of his constitutional
right to adequate tinme to prepare a defense. The gover nnment

responds that the district court did not abuse its discretion in

"W note that the district court instructed the jury very
clearly that the evidence of the Phoeni x | oans should be
considered only in determning state of mnd, intent, notive,
opportunity, plan, preparation, accident or m stake, and not used
to determ ne whet her Johnson committed the acts charged in the
i ndi ct nent.
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denyi ng Johnson’s notion for a continuance.
The denial of a notion for continuance will be reversed only
if the appellant denonstrates an abuse of discretion resulting in

serious prejudice. United States v. Correa-Ventura, 6 F.3d 1070,

1074 (5th Gr. 1993); United States v. Webster, 734 F.2d 1048,

1056 (5th Gir.), cert. denied, 469 U S. 1073 (1984).

Johnson was indicted on Decenber 18, 1990 and John Enerson
was appoi nted as counsel for Johnson on February 6, 1991. After
several pre-trial proceedings and reschedulings of the trial,
Johnson’s trial was set for Cctober 7, 1991. On Cctober 3, 1991,
Johnson noved for a continuance arguing that, because he believed
the governnent intended to present evidence related to the
Phoeni x | oans, he needed tine to investigate, conpile evidence,
and prepare to defend agai nst the Phoeni x allegations. The
district court granted Johnson’s notion for continuance and reset
trial for Decenber 2, 1991. After two days of trial, the
district court granted Johnson’s notion for a mstrial in order
for Johnson to obtain wtnesses to defend agai nst the Phoeni x
evi dence.

Prior to the second trial, on January 27, 1991, Johnson sent
a letter to Judge Sparks, indicating that, although he w shed for
additional preparation tine to investigate and put on evidence
def endi ng agai nst the Phoeni x allegations, his attorneys
di sagreed that this was their best strategy and refused to file a
nmotion for continuance. Judge Sparks treated Johnson's letter as
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a notion for continuance.

At the hearing on Johnson’s notion for continuance,
Johnson’ s counsel indicated that he could not represent to the
court that the w tnesses Johnson w shed to subpoena were
necessary to present an adequate defense, as required by Federal
Rule of Crimnal Procedure 17(b). Further, Johnson’s counsel
explained to the court that, after considerable effort, he was
unable to | ocate sone of the wi tnesses Johnson wanted to testify,
such as Eddie Manly and Wendell WIson. Johnson’s counsel told
Judge Sparks that he did not file a notion for a continuance
because he “felt like [he] ethically could not do so because [ he]
did not believe that there was a sufficient basis for [him to
ask the Court to continue this case . ”

Judge Sparks then denied Johnson’s notion for continuance,
reasoni ng that, although Johnson would have |iked additional
time, he did not need additional tine, as his attorneys were
prepared to proceed with trial and the governnment had di scl osed
all relevant discovery materials to Johnson and his attorneys.

After review ng these facts and circunstances surroundi ng
Johnson’ s request for a continuance, we conclude that the
district court did not abuse its discretion by denying the

nmot i on.

E. PROSECUTOR S COVMENTS
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Johnson al so argues that the prosecutor’s conments during
cl osing argunent deprived himof a fair trial. Johnson conpl ains
that (1) the prosecutor referred to himas a “white collar
crimnal,”® (2) the prosecutor shifted the burden of proof onto
the defense, and (3) the prosecutor msrepresented to the jury
Johnson’s ability to subpoena w t nesses.?®

“I'n reviewing a claimof prosecutorial msconduct, [we]

first determ ne whether the prosecutor’s remarks were inproper

8 Johnson chal |l enges the following statenent in the
prosecutor’s argument:

Acrimnal--M. Drug Kingpin in a drug case never puts
hi s hands on the dope, but that doesn’t nean he’ s not
the one that sells it. Mster white collar crimna
may not put his hands on all of the checks that are
nmovi ng the noney around the country .

9 Johnson clains that the foll ow ng argunent by the
prosecutor shifted the burden of proof and m srepresented
Johnson’s ability to subpoena w t nesses:

You can see [that defense counsel] are very well
prepared. You can see the boxes they have. They get
di scovery fromthe Governnent. They had Sterrett’s
report. They had Trevino’s reports. They had all of

t he docunents way ahead of tine. There is no
sandbaggi ng here. They al so have subpoena power |ike
the Governnent. |[If he wanted the tax returns of
Everett Rand, he knew he was going to be a wi tness; why
didn’t he subpoena then? |f he wanted Victor

Mont gonery’ s records, whey didn’t he subpoena them

You are entitled to ask yourself why he didn’t do that.
They have got every bit of the subpoena power that the
United States CGovernnent has. They have the power of
the United States District Court.
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and, second, whether they prejudicially affected the substantive

rights of the defendant.” United States v. Fields, 72 F.3d 1200,

1207 (5th Gr. 1996), petition for cert. filed, 64 U S. L.W 3709

(U.S. Apr. 8, 1996)(No. 95-1639); United States v. Lokey, 945

F.2d 825, 837 (5th Gr. 1991). W consider: “(1) the nagnitude
of the prejudicial effect of the statenents; (2) the efficacy of
any cautionary instruction given; and (3) the strength of the
evi dence of the defendant’s guilt.” Fields, 72 F.3d at 1207,
Lokey, 945 F.2d at 837. “[RJeversal for inproper prosecutorial
statenents is required only where the statenents cast ‘serious

doubt on the jury' s verdict.’” Lokey, 945 F.2d at 838 (citations
omtted).

Johnson first contends that he was deprived of a fair trial
because the prosecutor referred to himas a white collar crimnal
during closing argunent. Although this argunent nmay have been
i nproper, we conclude that it did not prejudice Johnson’s
substantial rights. The “white collar crimnal” comment was one
i solated reference to which defense counsel imedi ately object ed.
The district court sustained the objection and instructed the
jury to disregard. The district court also, during its charge,
instructed the jury that the |lawer’s argunents are not evi dence.
As recited above, anple evidence supports Johnson’s convictions.
The prosecutor’s statenent does not cast serious doubt on the
jury’s verdict. Therefore, we conclude that the prosecutor’s
reference to Johnson as a white collar crimnal was not
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prejudicial and does not require reversal.

We concl ude that Johnson’s second and third contentions,
that he was deprived of a fair trial because the prosecutor’s
argunent shifted the burden of proof and m srepresented his
ability to subpoena w tnesses, are without nerit. W note that
Johnson did not object to these prosecutorial statenents at

trial; therefore, we reviewthemfor plain error. See United

States v. Robles-Pantoja, 887 F.2d 1250, 1256 (5th G r. 1989).

First, as to Johnson’s contention that the prosecutor
shifted the burden of proof, we note that the prosecutor
explained to the jury imedi ately before the chal |l enged argunent
that the defendant has no burden and need not put on any
evi dence. ® The prosecutor al so properly described the burden of

proof earlier in his closing argunent.?! Furthernore, the

10 The portion of the prosecutor’s argunent chall enged by
Johnson and cited in his brief was i medi ately preceded by the
follow ng statenents by the prosecutor:

M. Enmerson said he didn’t have the tax return of
Everett Rand, and he didn’t have M. Montgonery’s
records. He pointed that out to you. | want to be
very careful here. The defendant in a case has no
burden. He doesn’t have to produce any evidence, and
that should not be held against him and if you do, you
cause problens for everybody. So don’t do that. :

11 The prosecutor acknowl edged to the jury that he had the
burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonabl e doubt:

First, the Court wll tell you that the Governnent has
the burden of proof to prove the elenents of the
offenses alleged . . . It’s a burden that the

Governnent has to get the witnesses in here, find out
they are witnesses, get themhere, present themto you
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district court properly instructed the jury that the prosecution
bears the entire burden of proof and that the defendant need not

present any evidence. See United States v. Jordan, 49 F.3d 152,

158-59 (5th Cir. 1995). Therefore, Johnson’s argunent that the
prosecutor’s comments shifted the burden of proof is neritless.

Second, as to the prosecutor’s comments regardi ng Johnson’s
ability to subpoena w tnesses, those statenents were responsive
to Johnson’s counsel’s closing argunent. W exam ne “the
prosecutor’s remarks in the context of the trial in which they
were made and attenpting to elucidate their intended effect.”
Fields, 72 F.3d at 1207. During Johnson’s counsel’s cl osing
argunent, he chall enged Rand’s and Montgonery’s credibility and
told the jury that he was unable to cross-exam ne Rand and
Mont gonery on key points because he did not have Rand' s tax
returns or Montgonery’'s bank records. The chall enged
prosecutorial coments were clearly an attenpt to rebut this
argunent by pointing out that Johnson’s counsel could have
obt ai ned those records if he wi shed. Because we concl ude t hat
t hese comments do not cast serious doubt on the jury's verdict,
we find that the prosecutor’s comments regardi ng Johnson’s
ability to subpoena w tnesses do not require reversal.

Johnson finally argues that even if the three allegedly

i nproper portions of the prosecutor’s argunent individually do
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not require reversal, cumulatively they denied Johnson a fair
trial. W conclude that even considered cunul atively, the
chal | enged portions of the prosecutor’s argunent do not cast
serious doubt on the jury's verdict so as to require reversal.

See United States v. Neal, 27 F.2d 1035, 1051-52 (5th Gr.),

cert. denied, 115 S. . 530 (1994), and cert. denied, 115 S. C

1165 (1995).; United States v. Mye, 951 F.2d 59, 63 n.7 (5th

Cr. 1992) (holding that “[b]ecause we find no nerit to any of
Moye' s argunents of error, his claimof cunulative error nust
also fail”).

Accordi ngly we conclude that the prosecutor’s statenents

chal | enged by Johnson do not require reversal.

| V. CONCLUSI ON

We conclude that: (1) the district court erred in finding
that the adm ssion of Exhibits 110 and 111 at trial was harnful
error requiring a newtrial; (2) the district court correctly
determ ned that no other evidence admtted at Johnson’s trial was
fruit of the illegal search of Johnson’s briefcase; (3) there was
sufficient evidence to support Johnson’s convictions; (4) the
district court did not err in admtting evidence related to the
Phoeni x |l oans; (5) the district court did not err in denying
Johnson’s notion for continuance; and (6) the prosecutor’s

cl osing argunent did not deprive Johnson of his right to a fair
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trial. For the foregoing reasons, we REVERSE the district
court’s notion for newtrial, and we REINSTATE Johnson’s

convi ctions and sentence.
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